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CHAIRMANS REPORT 
 

Dear Shareholders, 

 

The Directors of Future Mobility Solutions (NZX:FMS) hereby report the audited financial 
result for the twelve- months ending 31st March 2019. 

 

• Revenue of $52m, an increase of $22m over the prior corresponding period (“PCP”)   
• EBITDA of $38k compared to $287k in the PCP 
• A Loss of $6.3m up from a loss of $2.6m in the PCP  
 

The result includes a full twelve months result for all of the recent acquisitions made by FMS 
as compared to the previous financial year which recorded only a part year consolidation due 
to the timing of the acquisitions.   

The financial year saw the group continue its evolution to a business primarily focused on the 
military and commercial market globally. Whilst the directors continue to believe this will 
produce appropriate shareholder returns in the medium to long term, in the short term this has 
proven challenging. In particular, with increased reliance on government contracts, the 
business has inevitably become one where larger contracts dominate the earnings and cash 
flow of the group. Whilst this has the benefit of scale, so it also means the earnings are less 
predictable than historically. This pattern is likely to continue. 

 
In the year under review, the group’s cash flow was severely adversely impacted, in both Asia 
and North America, from its government contracts which led to significant working capital 
constraints on the business. The directors expect this to improve in the current financial year, 
but it will continue to be challenging. With this in mind, the board of directors have also 
reviewed the intangible assets of the company’s subsidiaries and made prudent adjustments 
where it is felt appropriate. 
 
Whilst we faced a difficult year both myself and my fellow directors remain confident for the 
future of the group.  

I’d like to take this opportunity to thank employees, customers, shareholders and commercial 
partners for their continued support and commitment to the success of the company. 
 
Kind Regards, 
 

 
 
Eric Series 
Chairman 
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DIRECTORS' STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY 

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the consolidated financial statements fairly 
present the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2019 and its 
consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows for the year ended on that 
date. 

The Directors consider that the consolidated financial statements of the Group have 
been prepared using appropriate accounting policies, consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable judgements and estimates and all relevant financial reporting 
and accounting standards have been followed. 

The Directors believe that proper accounting records have been kept which enable, with 
reasonable accuracy, the determination of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group and facilitate compliance of the consolidated financial statements with the 
Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013. 

The Directors consider they have taken adequate steps to safeguard the assets of the 
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors have pleasure in presenting the consolidated financial statements of Future 
Mobility Solutions Limited, set out on pages 3 to 46, for the year ended 31 March 2019. 

The consolidated financial statements presented on the following pages were authorised for 
issue on 24 June 2019. 

For and on behalf of the Board 

Christopher Weir Mark Broadley 

Director Director 



 

 

Grant Thornton New Zealand Audit  
Partnership 
L4, Grant Thornton House 
152 Fanshawe Street 
P O Box 1961 
Auckland 1140 
 

T +64 (0) 9 308 2570 
F +64 (0) 9 309 4892 
www.grantthornton.co.nz 

 

 

 

 

 

Chartered Accountants and Business Advisers 
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd     
 
 

  
   

   

  
 
 

 

 

To the Shareholders of Future Mobility Solutions Limited 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Future Mobility Solutions Limited (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) 
on pages 7 to 46 which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 31 March 2019 and its consolidated financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with New 
Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (‘NZ IFRS’) and International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’). 

Basis for opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (‘ISAs (NZ)’). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We 
are independent of the Group in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners 
issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Group. 

Material uncertainty relating to going concern  
We draw attention to the significant accounting policies within the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a 
net loss after tax of $6.3m during the financial year and incurred net cash outflow from operations for the financial year of $2.3m. Further, the 
Group is dependent on its ability to raise additional funding from equity or debt to be able to meet all obligations as they fall due.  The matter 
indicates that there is a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  The 
financial statements do not include any adjustments to the value of assets or liabilities that may be necessary should the going concern 
assumption not be appropriate. Our Opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other Matter 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 were audited by another auditor who expressed an 
unmodified opinion on those statements on 15 June 2018. 

Key audit matters  
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

 



 
 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Goodwill and other intangible impairment 
assessment (Note 14) 

The Group has goodwill and intangible assets with an 
indefinite useful with a carrying value of $7.491 million 
(2018: $10.177 million). 

During the year the Group impaired goodwill relating to 
the Willard Marine cash generating unit by $3 million 
(2018: Nil) 

The Group is required to test goodwill and intangible 
assets with an indefinite useful life for impairment on an 
annual basis.  The Group calculated the recoverable 
amounts of the individual cash generating unit’s 
(“CGU”) using the value in use model.  Significant 
inputs into the models were the revenue growth rates 
and discount rates.  Information about the assumptions 
and methods used are included in note 14. 

We included the impairment testing as a key audit 
matter due to the high level of judgement required in 
assessing the recoverable amounts of the CGUs to 
which the intangibles relate. 

 
 

Our audit procedures included a detailed evaluation of 
the Group’s forecasts and models used for the relevant 
CGUs.  In consultation with our internal corporate 
finance experts we performed the following procedures: 

• assessed and compared the key inputs used in 
the value in use model being the revenue growth 
rate and discount rate to historical calculations 
and external sources of information; 

• assessed the reasonability and reliability of the 
Group’s forecasting by comparing the forecasts to 
historical trends and other supporting 
documentation; 

• sample tested the accuracy of the value in use 
model; and 

• evaluated the adequacy of the disclosure of the 
impairment tests performed against the 
requirements of the relevant financial reporting 
standards. 

Recognition and measurement of revenue (Note 1) 

The Group recognised $52.134 million (2018: 30.127 
million) of revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019, 
of which $47.933 million (2018: 29.211 million) arose 
from the sale of goods, predominantly boats.  The 
Group sells boats globally to a diverse customer base 
of government, agencies, commercial entities and 
inidivduals.  Due to the significant contract price, varied 
contract terms and the first-time adoption of NZ IFRS 
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (‘NZ IFRS 
15’) this reporting period, the inaccurate timing of 
revenue recognition could lead to a material 
misstatement in the consolidated financial statements. 

The revenue recognised over time of $12.631 million 
(2018: 1.886 million), arose predominantly from 
Willard’s government contracts, which are recognised 
on a percentage of completion basis.  This requires 
significant management judgement over the estimates 
of forecast costs and labour hours to be incurred over 
the life of the project and estimating the stage of 
completion of the project.   

Furthermore, the first-time adoption of NZ IFRS 15 
introduces new criteria which need to be met to 
recognised revenue over time as opposed to at a point 
in time.   

We have included the recognition and measurement of 
revenue as a key audit matter due to the higher level of 
judgement inherent in the assessment of the impact of 
NZ IFRS 15 and the significant estimates used to 
calculate the percentage of completion for contracts 
measured over time. 

 

We obtained the Group’s revenue recognition 
accounting policies which included an assessment of 
the implementation of NZ IFRS 15.  We performed an 
overall assessment of the revenue recognition and 
measurement accounting policies to ensure these were 
in line with the requirements of new standard. 

We selected a sample of contracts and performed the 
following procedures: 

• assessed whether the method for recognition of 
revenue was consistent with the revised 
accounting policies and had been applied 
consistently.  We focused on contract 
classification and timing of the transfer of control; 

• For contracts recognised at a point in time we 
inspected delivery notes, invoices raised and 
cash receipts; 

• For contracts recognised over time we 
reperformed the calculation of the revenue to be 
recognised and agreed the assumptions used in 
determining the stage of completion to supporting 
documentation; and 

• Reperformed the calculation of deferred revenue 
and unbilled revenue at the reporting date based 
on the contract price, payments made to date and 
the period in which the services being delivered 
under the contract are provided. 



 
 

Other information 
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report but does 
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does 
not cover the other information and we do not express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.  In connection with our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information; 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Directors’ responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements  
The Directors are responsible on behalf of the Group for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with NZ IFRS and IFRS, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible on behalf of the Group for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (NZ) will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements is located on the External Reporting 
Board’s website at: https://www.xrb.govt.nz/assurance-standards/auditors-responsibilities/audit-report-1/ 

Restriction on use of our report 
This report is made solely to the Company’s shareholders, as a body. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Company’s shareholders, as a body those matters which we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and its shareholders, as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinion we have formed. 

 
R Campbell 
Partner 
Grant Thornton New Zealand Audit Partnership 
Auckland 
 
25 June 2019 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 
 

 Note March 2019 March 2018 

  $ '000s $ '000s 
(Restated) 

Sales of goods 
 

                   47,932.7 
                   

29,211.5 

Rendering of services                 4,201.7   916.4 

Revenue from customers 1, 15 52,134.4          30,127.9                    

Cost of sales and other direct costs 
                   

(37,583.3)                   (21,618.8) 

Gross margin                14,551.1              8,509.1 

Marketing and distribution costs 
 

   (3,480.1) 
                    

(2,654.4) 

Research and development costs  (452.5)    (143.9) 

Administrative and other expenses  (11,125.3)  (5,589.9) 

Other income  544.9  166.2 

Total operating expenses and other income  (14,513.0)                   (8,222.0)             

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation 
and other items 

                    38.1                287.1 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 3 (4,852.0)                     (1,422.7) 

Legal and professional fees 4 (451.1)                     (1,263.8) 

Unrealised foreign currency differences on acquisition 
funding 

 
(398.0) - 

Net finance cost 6 (741.4)                     (234.6) 

Loss before tax for the year 
 

 (6,404.4) 
                    

(2,634.0) 

Taxation 7                           77.5 63.9 

Loss after tax for the year 
                     

(6,326.9) 
                    

(2,570.1) 

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 
Movement in foreign currency translation reserve 

 
                  (67.9) 

                       
(138.8) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year  6,394.8)                     (2,708.9)                     

Loss after tax attributable to: 
Owners of the parent 

 
                    

(6,466.2) 
                    

(2,629.7) 

Non-controlling interests                     139.3                           59.6 

Loss after tax for the year             (6,326.9)     (2,570.1)  

Total comprehensive loss attributable to: 
  Owners of the parent 

 
                    

(6,534.1) 
                    

(2,768.5) 

  Non-controlling interests – Groupe Marck                     139.3                           59.6 

Total comprehensive loss for the year             (6,394.8)      (2,708.9)  

 
 
 
Basic earnings / (deficit) per share (cents) 
Diluted earnings / (deficit) per share (cents) 

 
 
 

8 
8 

 
2019 

Cents per Share                
 (3.97) 
(3.97) 

 
2018 

Cents per Share                         
 (1.85) 

                        (1.85) 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2019 
 

 Note As at  As at  

  31 March 2019 31 March 2018 

  $ '000s $ '000s 
(Restated) 

 

ASSETS 
Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 9 
 

                   2,196.4 
                     

1,567.0 

Trade and other receivables 10                   4,767.8    3,033.2 

Inventories 11                 17,980.4  9,814.3 

Contract assets in progress 12                    1,728.3    2,637.7 

Prepayments and other assets                     2,667.9   1,897.6 

Total current assets                 29,340.8    18,949.8 

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 13                      5,860.1 

                     
5,484.3 

Intangible assets 14                    12,216.6 15,520.9 

Other financial assets                        517.9   952.8 

Total non-current assets  18,594.6                  21,958.0                    

TOTAL ASSETS  47,935.4                    40,907.8                    

LIABILITIES 
Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 17                    22,218.0   12,794.1 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 16                 3,374.0   2,036.8 

Contract liabilities in progress 12               1,820.8    4,498.1 

Deferred revenue 18                 3,866.5     3,004.3 

Current tax liabilities                          36.0        - 

Warranty provisions 19                       872.5  781.4 

Total current liabilities                 32,187.8 23,114.7 

Non-current liabilities 
 Interest bearing loans and borrowings 16                    3,394.1 

                     
2,280.6 

 Other payables 17                    3,076.5      3,079.9 

Deferred tax 7                    2,960.2  2,801.9 

Total non-current liabilities                 9,430.8  8,162.4 

TOTAL LIABILITIES                   41,618.6  31,277.1 

    

NET ASSETS  6,316.8                      9,630.7                      

EQUITY 
Contributed equity 20                    62,024.2 

                   
58,490.5 

 Accumulated deficit                (56,934.0)  (50,014.9) 

Foreign currency translation reserve                    (235.3)  (167.4) 

 Owners of the parent                     4,854.9  8,308.2 

 Non-controlling interests                       1,461.9 1,322.5 

TOTAL EQUITY  6,316.8                      9,630.7                      

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 
 

   Attributable to owners of the parent   

 Note 
Contributed 

equity 

Share 
based 

payment 
reserve 

Accumulated 
deficit 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve Total 

Non-
controlling 

interests Total equity 

    $ '000s   $ '000s   $ '000s   $ '000s   $ '000s   $ '000s   $ '000s  

          

 As at 1 April 2017            56,602.4  
        

210.0  
        

(47,385.2) 
            

(28.6) 
      

9,398.6                  -              9,398.6  

          

 Loss for the year to 31 March 
2018, net of tax (restated)    

                        
-    

                  
-    

               
(2,629.7) 

                       
-    

       
(2,629.7) 

                  
59.6  

             
(2,570.1) 

 Other comprehensive loss for the 
year, net of tax    

                        
-    

                  
-    

                           
-    

               
(138.8) 

          
(138.8) 

                       
-    

                
(138.8) 

Total comprehensive income for 
the year, net of tax (restated)    

                        
-    

                  
-    

               
(2,629.7) 

               
(138.8) 

      
(2,768.5) 

                  
59.6  

            
(2,708.9) 

          

Shares issued    
                

1,888.1  
        

(420.0) 
                           

-    
                       

-    
          

1,468.1  
                       

-    
                

1,468.1  
Share based payment for the 
year    

                        
-    

           
210.0  

                           
-    

                       
-    

            
210.0  

                       
-    

                  
210.0  

 Non-controlling interest arising 
on acquisition of subsidiaries    

                        
-    

                  
-    

                           
-    

                       
-    

                  
-    

              
1,262.9  

                
1,262.9  

As at 31 March 2018 (restated)            58,490.5              -    
         

(50,014.9) 
           

(167.4) 
     

8,308.2            1,322.5  
          

9,630.7  

                 
Adjustment on adoption of NZ 
IFRS 15*                     -                -    

             
(452.9)                 -    

      
(452.9)                 -    

           
(452.9) 

 As at 1 April 2018            58,490.5              -    
        

(50,467.8) 
           

(167.4) 
      

7,855.3            1,322.5             9,177.8  

                 
 Loss for the year to 31 March 
2019, net of tax   

                        
-    

                  
-    

              
(6,466.2) 

                       
-    

      
(6,466.2) 

                 
139.3  

            
(6,326.9) 

 Other comprehensive loss for the 
year, net of tax    

                        
-    

                  
-    

                           
-    

                 
(67.9) 

            
(67.9) 

                       
-    

                  
(67.9) 

 Total comprehensive loss for the 
year, net of tax   

                        
-    

                  
-    

              
(6,466.2) 

                 
(67.9) 

       
(6,534.1) 

                 
139.3  

            
(6,394.8) 

                 

 Shares issued  20 
              

3,533.7  
                  

-    
                           

-    
                       

-    
        

3,533.7  
                       

-    
              

3,533.7  

 As at 31 March 2019            62,024.2              -    
        

(56,934.0) 
          

(235.3) 
     

4,854.9            1,461.9             6,316.8  

 

* Refer to the Statement of Accounting Policies for new standards adopted in 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 
 
 Note Year ended Year ended 

  31 March 2019 31 March 2018 

  $ '000s $ '000s 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Receipts from customers 

 
                 

50,051.5 
                 

30,754.5 

Interest received                       36.8   12.2 

Legal costs                   (251.1) (1,021.0) 

Payments to suppliers and employees              (52,167.5) (29,624.6) 

Net cash flows (used in) / from operating activities              
(2,330.3) 

   121.1 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 

                         
38.5 

                        
25.2 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment                (1,730.1) (776.5) 

Payments for intangible assets                      (2.2)   (107.0) 

Payments for acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired - Willard 24d)                           -    (1,504.4) 

Payments for acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired - Sillinger 24a)                           -   (844.5) 

Payments for acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired - Lancer 24c)                 (100.0)     (274.7) 

Acquisition costs                            -     (192.0) 

Net cash flows used in investing activities               
(1,793.8) 

 (3,673.9) 

Cash flows from financing activities  
Proceeds of share issue 

 
              3,533.7                           - 

Proceeds from borrowings                  4,289.0   2,932.0 

Repayments of borrowings                (1,865.3)     (551.1) 

Principal repayments for finance lease obligations                  (143.5)         (76.1) 

Interest paid                  (483.6)    (134.5) 

Net cash flows from financing activities               5,330.3   2,170.3 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                  1,206.1 (1,382.5) 

Movement in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 

                    
1,567.0 

                   
3,236.0 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                   1,206.1 (1,382.5) 

Effect of changes in exchange rates                  (576.7)    (286.5) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year                2,196.4  1,567.0 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONT.) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Note 
Year ended Year ended 

 
31 March 2019 

$ '000s 
31 March 2018 

$ '000s 

Reconciliation of reported net loss with cash flows from operating activities 

Loss after tax             (6,326.9)                   (2,570.1) 

Adjustments for: 
  Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 3                    4,852.0 

                   
1,422.7 

  Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2                     40.4  9.4 

  Share based payment expense 22                           -   210.0 

 Interest expense classified as a financing cash flow                     483.6   134.5 

  Acquisition costs classified as investing cash flow                    - 192.0 

  Fair value movements                  (275.3)     - 

  Unwinding of discount in deferred consideration payable - Willard                    570.0    - 

  Net loss on foreign exchange                     398.0 212.5 

  Other items                  (46.5) 178.5 

                  6,022.2  2,359.6 

Net movement in working capital: 
Increase in other current liabilities excluding borrowings 

 
                   7,735.9 

                   
2,605.9 

Increase in receivables             (1,734.5)  (1,077.7) 

(Increase) / decrease in inventories              (8,166.1) 341.7 

Decrease / (increase) in contract assets                 909.4    (272.1) 

Increase in prepayments and other current assets               (770.3)  (1,266.2) 

               (2,025.6) 331.6 

Net cash flows (used in) / from operating activities           (2,330.3) 121.1 
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 
 
REPORTING ENTITY 

Future Mobility Solutions Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group") is a company incorporated 
and domiciled in New Zealand, registered under the Companies Act 1993 and listed on the New Zealand Stock Exchange. 
The Company is a FMC Reporting Entity under the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013 (the "FMCA 2013"). 

The Company and its subsidiaries constitute what is an international marine technology group, the primary activity of which 
is the manufacture and supply of small boats to government, commercial and recreational customers around the world. 

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2019. 

BASIS OF PREPARATION 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an historical cost basis except where otherwise stated. 
They are prepared in accordance with New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practice ("NZ GAAP", the requirements 
of FMCA 2013 and the Main Board Listing rules of the New Zealand Stock Exchange). NZ GAAP consists of New Zealand 
equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards as appropriate to profit-orientated entities.  

Financial information is presented in New Zealand dollars ("NZ dollar") and rounded to the nearest hundred dollars, unless 
otherwise stated.  

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comply with New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as appropriate for a profit-oriented 
entity that falls into the Tier 1 for profit category as determined by the New Zealand Accounting Standards Board. 

USE OF ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS  

In applying the Group's accounting policies, management continually evaluates judgements, estimates and assumptions 
based on experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have an impact on the Group. All 
judgements, estimates and assumptions made are believed to be reasonable based on the most current set of circumstances 
available to management. Actual results may differ from the judgements, estimates and assumptions made and the 
differences may be material. Significant judgements, estimates and assumptions made by management in the preparation 
of these consolidated financial statements are discussed within the specific accounting policy or note as shown below: 

Area of estimate or judgement 

• Estimation of fair values for identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed under business combination 
(refer to Note 24)  

• Impairment of intangible assets (refer to Note 14) 

• Going concern (see below) 

• Warranty provisions (refer to Note 19) 

• Revenue recognition (refer to Note 1) 
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements have been 
consistently applied to all periods presented, except the implementation of NZ IFRS 15 where the cumulative effect of initial 
application has been recognised in the current period. Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified to 
achieve consistency in disclosure with the current period. 

NEW STANDARDS ADOPTED IN 2019 

In 2019 the Group has adopted NZ IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.   

NZ IFRS 15 replaces NZ IAS 18 Revenue, NZ IAS 11 Construction Contracts and some revenue-related interpretations. The 
new standard has been applied retrospectively without restatement, with the cumulative effect of initial application 
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 April 2018. In accordance with the transition 
guidance, NZ IFRS 15 has only been applied to contracts that are incomplete as at 1 April 2018. The adoption of NZ IFRS 15 
has only affected non-government contracts for Willard Marine Incorporated, as they no longer meet the criteria for 
recognising revenue over time. There were further effects surrounding the reversal of work in progress for contracts in 
progress where revenue is recognised over time. On the date of initial application of NZ IFRS 15 on 1 April 2018. 

The impact to retained earnings of the Group is as follows: 

Commercial contracts – Willard (601.0) 

Reversal of Contract Work in Progress – Willard 148.1 

Total (452.9) 

 

NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (NZ IFRS 9) replaces NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (NZ 
IAS 39). It makes major changes to the previous guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and 
introduces an ‘expected credit loss’ model for the impairment of financial assets. The Group applied a simplified model of 
recognising lifetime expected credit losses as their trade receivables do not have a significant financing component.  
Management have completed an impact assessment and have determined that there was no financial impact on transition 
to the new accounting standard.  The new standard has been applied using the full retrospective method without 
restatement. 
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

NEW STANDARDS NOT YET ADOPTED IN 2019 

In February 2016 the New Zealand Accounting Standards Board approved the issue of NZ IFRS 16 Leases. The new lease 
accounting standard provides much-improved transparency and comparability of companies’ lease assets and lease 
liabilities for investors and other users of consolidated financial statements.  

The Standard eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases. Instead, there is a single 
lessee model which requires a lessee to recognise on the consolidated statement of financial position assets and liabilities 
for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. 

The Group has assessed the expected impact of NZ IFRS 16 Leases, which will apply from the accounting period beginning 
1 April 2019. It is estimated that premises and vehicle leases will result in a right of use asset of $3.3 million, and a 
corresponding lease liability of equal value. An additional depreciation expense of $1.2 million is expected in the first year, 
in addition to $0.15 million of interest implicit in the annual lease payments. This will replace the $1.4 million of operational 
lease payments that are currently expensed under the current NZ IAS 17 Leases standard. 

NZ IFRS 16 will not have any effect on the total amount of cash flows reported but it is expected to have an effect on the 
presentation of cash flows. This is because, applying NZ IAS 17 Leases, cash flows relating to operating leases are 
presented as cash flows from operating activities while applying NZ IFRS 16 will result in the presentation within financial 
activities of cash flows relating to the repayment of principal on lease liabilities. 

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Future Mobility Solutions Limited and its 
subsidiaries ("the Group") as at 31 March each year (refer Note 21). 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group, directly or indirectly, has control. The Group controls an entity 
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
obtained by the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. 

The consolidated financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company 
and using consistent accounting policies. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-company balances and transactions between members of the 
Group are eliminated in full.  

Non-controlling interests are allocated their share of the net profit after tax in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and are presented within equity in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, separately 
from the equity of the owners of the parent.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

FOREIGN CURRENCY AND TRANSLATION 

Presentation currency 

The individual financial statements of each Group entity are prepared in the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the entity operates (functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and 
financial position of each entity are presented in New Zealand dollars, which is the presentation currency for the consolidated 
financial statements and the functional currency of the parent entity. 

Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are initially converted into the relevant functional currency using exchange rates 
approximating those ruling at the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
reporting date are remeasured at the rate of exchange ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from 
monetary items that form part of the net investment in subsidiaries are recognised initially in foreign currency translation 
reserve and will be reclassified from equity to profit or loss, on disposal of the net investment in that subsidiary. All other 
foreign exchange gains and losses arising on remeasurement are included in profit or loss within the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. 

Translation 

The results and financial position of all Group entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation 
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

a) assets and liabilities for each Consolidated Statement of Financial Position presented are translated at the closing 
rate at the date of that  

b) Statement of Financial Position; 
c) income and expenses for each Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income are translated using the 

average monthly exchange rate (being a reasonable approximation of the rates prevailing on the transaction 
date); and  

d) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in "Other comprehensive income". 

Goodwill and acquisition adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. 

The principal average exchange rates used for transaction and translation purposes in respect of one NZ dollar for the 
current and past financial year are: 

   31 March 2019 31 March 2018 31 March 2019 31 March 2018 

US dollar   0.6834 0.7146 0.6805 0.7243 

Euro   0.6045 0.5882 0.6065 0.5877 
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

GOING CONCERN 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

The Group has recorded a net loss after tax of $6,326,900 for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: $2,570,100) with equity of 
$6,316,800 as at 31 March 2019 (2018: $9,630,700). As at 31 March 2019 the Group has cash and cash equivalents of $2,196,400 
(2018: $1,567,000), and the net cash outflow from operating activities for the year ended 31 March 2019 was $2,330,300 (2018: 
inflow of $121,100), and the net cash outflow from investing activities was $1,793,800 (2018: $3,673,900).  

The Group raised $3,533,700 of funds during the year through a rights issue and deferred the consideration payable on the 
Willard Marine Incorporated acquisition. The Group has prepared forecasts which indicate that cash on hand at year-end, 
combined with cash flow as a result of operations, as well as an issuance of new share capital subsequent to year-end will 
enable the Group to continue operating and settle remaining debt obligations as required to satisfy its going concern 
requirements.  

The going concern assumption is dependent on the raising sufficient cash through the issuance of further share capital if 
required or the shareholder loans repayment terms being renegotiated. This dependency on a future capital raising and 
renegotiation of debt terms of repayment creates a material uncertainty with respect to meeting the Group’s cash 
requirements. Notwithstanding these dependencies the Directors are confident that the Group remains a going concern and 
is able to raise further funding through equity or debt. 

Accordingly the Directors believe the going concern assumption is valid and have reached this conclusion having regard to 
the circumstances which they consider likely to affect the Group during the period of one year from the date these financial 
statements are approved, and to circumstances which they believe will occur after that date which could affect the validity 
of the going concern assumption. If the Group was unable to continue in operational existence, and pay debts as and when 
they become due and payable, adjustments would have to be made to reflect the situation that assets may need to be realised 
and liabilities extinguished, other than in the normal course of business and at amounts which could differ significantly from 
the amounts at which they are currently recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

IMPAIRMENT 

Non-financial assets 
Non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there are any indicators that the assets may 
be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing is required for an asset, the Group estimates the 
asset's recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and its value 
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. 

Impairment losses relating to non-financial assets are reported as an impairment charge in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.  

Financial assets 
The treatment of impairment losses relating to financial assets is detailed in the individual notes.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

CORRECTION OF PRIOR PERIOD 

The Group has corrected prior period errors relating to Willard contract revenue recognised over time, and contract work in 
progress. The impact of these corrections is as follows:  

31 March 2018    
Previous 
Amount 

Adjustment Restated 
Amount    

$ '000s $ '000s $ '000s 
Statement of Comprehensive Income (extract) 

     

Sales of goods 
  

29,433.4 (221.9) 29,211.5 
Cost of sales and other direct costs 

  
(21,689.8) 71.0 (21,618.8) 

Loss before tax 
  

(2,419.2) (150.9) (2,570.1)       
Statement of Financial Position (extract) 

     

Contract assets in progress 
  

2,714.4 (76.7) 2,637.7 
Intangible assets 

  
15,595.1 (74.2) 15,520.9 

Net assets 
  

9,781.6 (150.9) 9,630.7       
Accumulated deficit 

  
(49,864.0) (150.9) (50,014.9) 

Total equity 
  

9,781.6 (150.9) 9,630.7 

The prior period error has been rectified by restating the prior period noting, that the earliest period affected was 31 March 
2018, as this was the period in which Willard was acquired. As the prior period error did not impact the statement of 
financial position as at 1 April 2017 no statement of financial position at that date has been disclosed. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position when the Group becomes 
a party to the contractual provision of the instrument. 

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise loans, borrowings, trade and other payables, trade and other receivables 
and cash, measured at amortised cost. Refer to the individual accounting policies for initial and subsequent measurement of 
these financial instruments. 

The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance and provide working capital for the Group's operations. 
The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks, including credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk. 
The objective is to identify, define, measure and record interest rate and foreign exchange risks by the various categories 
and to manage each risk. Its objective is to minimise the impact of adverse market movements across the whole business, 
as part of the overall business strategy to reduce risk in the business. 

The Group uses different methods to measure and manage different types of risks to which it is exposed. 

Primary responsibility for identification and control of financial risks rests with management including managing each of the 
risks identified below. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a customer contract or financial instrument, 
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and 
from its investing activities (including deposits with banks). 

The Group's exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal 
to the carrying amount of the financial assets (as outlined in each applicable note). Ageing analysis and monitoring of 
specific credit allowances for expected future losses are undertaken to manage credit risk.   

The Group trades with recognised, creditworthy third parties. Governmental customers are considered a low credit risk but 
for non-Governmental customers, a non-refundable deposit is usually a condition of contract acceptance. Final payment is 
typically required in advance of title to the boat passing. 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT.) 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of the Group's assets, liabilities and financial performance will fluctuate due 
to changes in foreign currency. 

The Group is primarily exposed to currency risk as a result of its operations in the United States of America and France. The 
risk to the Group is that the value of the overseas subsidiaries' financial position and financial performance will fluctuate in 
economic terms and as recorded in the consolidated financial statements due to changes in overseas exchange rates. 

At 31 March, had the New Zealand Dollar moved as illustrated in the following table with all other variables held constant, 
post tax loss and equity would have been affected as follows: 

  Impact on 2019 reporting 
year 

Impact on 2018 reporting 
year 

  Change in 
profit/(loss) 

Change in 
equity 

Change in 
profit/(loss) 

Change in 
equity 

  $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s 
        

NZD/USD +5%  
            100.0  

           
393.0  

             
157.0  (72.0) 

NZD/USD -5%  
(100.0) (393.0) (158.0) 

              
84.0  

NZD/EUR +5%  
(19.4) (136.8)             136.0  

            
168.0  

NZD/EUR -5%                 
19.4  

             
136.8  (136.0) (168.0) 

 

Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk represents the Group's ability to meet contractual cash flow obligations. The Group's objective is to maintain 
a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of finance leases, committed available credit lines 
and potential share issues. 
 
The Group manages its liquidity risk by monitoring the total cash outflows expected on a monthly basis.  The following 
tables set out the contractual cash flows for all financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis: 

 

Year ended 31 March 2019 Notes 
Less than 
6 months 

6 to 12 
months 

1 to 2 
years 

2 to 5 
years Total 

  $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 16 1,846.5 1,527.6 2,896.1 497.9 6,768.1 
Trade and other payables 17 17,986.4 4,398.6 3,600.4 - 25,985.4 

Total financial liabilities   
     

19,832.9  
      

5,926.2  
      

6,496.5  
       

497.9  
    

32,753.5         

Year ended 31 March 2018 Notes 
Less than 
6 months 

6 to 12 
months 

1 to 2 
years 

2 to 5 
years Total        

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 16 1,495.5 541.3 971.9 1,308.7 4,317.4 
Trade and other payables 17 9,174.4 3,588.2 3,866.1 - 16,628.7 

Total financial liabilities   
     

10,669.9  
      

4,129.5  
     

4,838.0  
      

1,308.7  
    

20,946.1  
 

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value. 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT.) 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. The level of debt is disclosed in Note 17. The Group's practice is to manage its interest cost using a 
mix of fixed and variable rate debt. The Group’s short to medium term liquidity position is monitored and reported to the 
Board.  

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of profit / (loss) and equity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates of 
+/- 1% (2018: +/- 1%). These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market 
conditions. The calculations are based on a change in the average market interest rate for each period, and the financial 
instruments held at each reporting date that are sensitive to changes in interest rates. All other variables are held constant. 

 

  
Impact on 2019 reporting 

year 
Impact on 2018 reporting 

year 

  
Change in 

profit/(loss) 
Change in 

Equity 
Change in 

profit/(loss) 
Change 

in Equity 

  $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s 

Variable interest rates +1%  (29.0) (28.0)                31.0  (29.0) 

Variable interest rates -1%                29.0  
              

28.0  (31.0) 
              

29.0  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

1. Revenue from Customers and Associated Cost Recognition 

Accounting policy applied after 1 April 2018 
Revenue arises mainly from contracts to construct boats specific to customer requirements and service/repair of boats. To determine 
whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step process: 

1. Identifying the contract with a customer 
2. Identifying the performance obligations 
3. Determining the transaction price 
4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations 
5. Recognising revenue when and as its performance obligations are satisfied. 
Contract revenue and service revenue 
The Group enters into agreements with customers to construct boats specific to that customer’s requirements in exchange for a fixed fee and 
recognises the related revenue at a point in time or over time depending on the type of contract. Due to the high degree of interdependence 
between the various elements of these projects, they are accounted for as a single performance obligation. When a contract also includes 
promises to perform after-sales services, the total transaction price is allocated to each of the distinct performance obligations identifiable 
under the contract on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices. 
Willard Marine Inc. enters into agreements with the US government to construct boats specific to their requirements in exchange for a fixed 
fee and recognises the related revenue over time. To depict the progress by which Willard transfers control of the boat to the customer, and 
to establish when and to what extent revenue can be recognised, Willard measures its progress towards complete satisfaction of the 
performance obligation by comparing actual costs to date with the total construction costs expected to be incurred. This basis provides the 
most faithful depiction of the transfer of goods and services to each customer due to Willard’s ability to make reliable estimates of the total 
cost required to perform, arising from its significant historical experience constructing similar boats.   
Revenue arising from all other boat sales, repairs, sale of goods or spares is recognised when the goods are transferred to the customer and 
the customer has control of the goods, which is upon delivery.  Therefore, revenue is recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income at the time of delivery. No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the 
consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods, or where there is continuing management involvement with the goods 
when the performance obligation has been satisfied. 
When payments received from customers exceed revenue recognised to date on a particular contract, any excess (a contract liability) is 
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position under other liabilities. 
Accounting policy applied before 1 April 2018 
Revenue from customers is recognised and measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable to the extent it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.  
Local Sales are generally recorded on the day the boat is picked up by, or delivered to, the customer at which time all the risks and rewards 
of ownership pass to the customer. Export sales, unless otherwise specified in the sales contract, are generally recorded on the day the boat 
is uplifted from the Group’s premises, at which time all the risks and rewards of ownership pass to the customer. Deposits received on such 
sales are recorded as deferred revenue.  
Willard, due to the nature of its contracts, recognises revenue using the percentage-of-completion method. This is based on labour hours 
incurred to date compared with estimated labour hours to completion of the contract. If Willard has recognised revenue but not issued an 
invoice, then the entitlement to consideration is recognised as a contract asset. The contract asset is transferred to receivables when the 
entitlement to payment becomes unconditional. Contract liabilities represent amounts invoiced in excess of revenue recognised.  
To the extent that costs at completion are estimated to exceed the contract price, charges are recognised in the Income Statement to record 
contract losses in the period in which the loss is first determined. 
The Group’s revenue disaggregated by primary geographical markets is as follows: 

 2019 2018 

$ '000s $ '000s 

New Zealand 12,133.1  8,637.9  

USA 19,352.9  6,123.4  

Asia 522.3  2,335.4  

Australia 4,134.0  1,744.5  

Middle East 4,646.7  1,723.5  

Europe 4,904.6  1,802.4  

Other countries 6,440.8  7,760.8  

Total revenue from customers 52,134.4  30,127.9  
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1. Revenue from Customers and Associated Cost Recognition (Cont.) 

      The Group’s revenue disaggregated by pattern of revenue recognition is as follows: 
 

   2019 2018 
   $ '000s $ '000s 

       
Control of goods - recognised at a point in time  35,301.5 27,325.3 
Control of goods - recognised over time  12,631.2 1,886.2 

Sales of goods      47,932.7  
       

29,211.5  
       

Control of services - recognised at a point in time   
         

4,201.7  
              

916.4  

Rendering of services         4,201.7  
          

916.4  
       

Total revenue from customers         52,134.4  
      

30,127.9  
 

2. Operating Expenses 

a)Employee costs 
Employee costs for the years ended 31 March comprised:    

    2019 2018 
    $ '000s $ '000s 

       
Wages and salaries    12,745.3  5,894.8  
Defined contribution plan expense    932.6  719.0  
Defined benefit plan expense    - 16.8  
Termination benefits    11.5  29.7  
Total employee costs       13,689.4  6,660.3  

 
Employee costs for the reporting period included in operating expenses and cost of sales amounted to $6.7 million and $7.0 
million respectively (2018: $3.2 million and $3.5 million respectively). 

b) Other operating expenses 
Other operating expenses for the years ended 31 March included the 
following:    

       
    Note 2019 2018 

     $ '000s $ '000s 
Director fees     145.0  145.0  
Rental and operating lease costs    23 1,386.3  547.7  
Net losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment   40.4  9.4  
Net losses on foreign exchange     137.5  212.5  
Donations     1.3  0.5  
Total other operating expenses        1,710.5  915.1  

 
3. Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment for the years ended 31 March comprised: 
    Note 2019 2018 

     $ '000s $ '000s 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   13 1,238.7  595.1  
Amortisation of intangible assets    14 613.3  303.8  
Impairment of intangible assets    14 3,000.0  523.8  
Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment     4,852.0  1,422.7  
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4. Legal and Professional Fees 

Legal and professional fees for the years ended 31 March comprised: 

 Note 2019 2018 

$ '000s $ '000s 

Legal and professional fees a) 251.1  1,071.8  

Acquisition costs b) 200.0  192.0  

Total legal and professional fees  451.1  1,263.8  

a) Primarily the legal costs of defending Sealegs International's intellectual property. 

b) Acquisition costs relate to direct costs incurred in the acquisitions of Sillinger, Lancer, Willard and Sealegs Europe. 

 

5. Payable to Auditors 

Grant Thornton New Zealand Audit Partnership is the auditor of the Consolidated Financial Statements (2018: Ernst & 
Young). Audit fees charged to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of services provided by 
the auditors, were as follows for the years ended 31 March: 

 
     2019 2018 

     $ '000s $ '000s 

Grant Thornton New Zealand Audit Partnership    170.0  
                    

-    
        

Other audit firms        
Audit of financial statements (including the audit of acquisition balances of acquired 
businesses) 200.4  364.4  
Accounting advisory services     18.8                -    
Tax compliance     8.6  13.9  
Tax advisory     3.8  12.7  

Total auditors’ remuneration         401.6  391.0  
 
6. Net Finance Cost 

Accounting policy 
Interest revenue and interest expense are recognised using the effective interest rate method. All borrowing costs are 
recognised as an expense in the period they are incurred, as there are no qualifying assets against which interest is able to 
be capitalised.   

 

 

2019 2018 

$ '000s $ '000s 

Interest revenue  18.8  12.2  

Bank loans and overdrafts  (157.6) (27.4) 

Loans from related parties  (286.5) (107.1) 

Fair value movement in contingent consideration - Lancer  (79.4) (39.7) 

Gain on modification of terms for deferred consideration - Willard  353.8                      - 

Unwinding of discount on deferred consideration payable - Willard  (570.0) (68.1) 

Finance charges payable under finance leases  (20.5) (4.5) 

Finance costs  (760.2) (246.8) 

NET FINANCE COST  (741.4) (234.6) 
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7. Taxation 

Accounting policy 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the profit or loss component of the 
income statement. Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of the previous year.  

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates 
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the 
related deferred tax asset is realised, or the deferred tax liability is settled.  

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related benefits will be realised. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different entities where there is an intention to settle the balance on a net 
basis. 

 
 

 

 

2019 2018 

$ '000s $ '000s 
(Restated) 

Loss from continuing operations before income tax (6,404.4) (2,634.0) 

Prima facie income tax @ 28% (2018: 28%) (1,793.2) (737.5) 

Effect of differential tax rates in overseas countries 1.7  5.5  

  Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 1,071.7  69.3  

  Acquisition costs                  - 101.7  

  Other expenses 66.3  22.3  

Non-assessable income 
  Other  (29.0) (42.0) 

Impact of change in French tax rates on deferred tax                  - (30.6) 

Tax losses not recognised 706.6  782.4  

Utilisation of tax losses (106.8) (234.1) 

Impact of foreign currency translation 5.2  (0.9) 

Income tax benefit (77.5) (63.9) 

The income tax benefit is represented by: 
Current tax 35.0                      - 

Deferred tax (112.5) (63.9) 

Income tax reported in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (77.5) (63.9) 

 

The reconciliation of deferred tax liabilities as at 31 March is as follows: 

 2019 2018 
$ '000s $ '000s 

Deferred tax liabilities as at 1 April (2,801.9)                     - 
Arising on acquisition                  - (2,855.3) 
Tax income recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 112.5  63.9  
Tax expense recognised in OCI during the period (270.8)                     - 
Effect of foreign currency translation                  - (10.5) 
Deferred tax liabilities as at 31 March (2,960.2) (2,801.9) 

 
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of those losses where it is not probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised. The Future Mobility Solutions New Zealand consolidated tax 
group has tax losses of $28,010,735 (2018: $26,966,142) available to carry forward. The carry forward of these tax losses is 
subject to Inland Revenue Department approval and maintenance of shareholder continuity. 
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8. Earnings / (deficit) Per Share 

Accounting policy 
Basic earnings / (deficit) per share is calculated by dividing the net profit / (loss) for the year attributable to the parent by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. The weighted number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year is the number of ordinary shares outstanding at the beginning of the year adjusted by the 
number of ordinary shares bought back or issued during the year multiplied by a time-weighting factor. 

Diluted earnings / (deficit) per share additionally considers the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be 
issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. 

The earnings / (deficit) per share for the years ended 31 March was as follows: 

Note  2019 2018 

$ '000s $ '000s 
(Restated) 

Profit / (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders ($ '000s) (6,466.2) (2,629.7) 

 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares issued 

  

163,041  142,325  

 2019  
Cents 

2018 
Cents 

Basic earnings / (deficit) per share  (3.97) (1.85) 

Diluted earnings / (deficit) per share 
 

(3.97) (1.85) 
  

Net tangible asset backing per ordinary security (cents) (0.03) (0.04) 

 
9. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Accounting policy 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  The carrying amount of cash and 
cash equivalents represent the fair value.  

Bank overdrafts are classified as interest bearing loans and borrowings in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
and for the purpose of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. 

Short-term deposits earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 March comprise the following: 

 2019 2018 

 $ '000s $ '000s 

Cash at bank, in transit and in hand 2,196.4  1,567.0  

Total cash and cash equivalents 2,196.4  1,567.0  

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 March are held in the following currencies: 

 2019 
$ '000s 

2018 
$ '000s 

New Zealand dollar 848.9  585.0  

US dollar 1,140.7  580.7  

Euros 23.8  367.3  

Australian dollar 183.0  34.0  

Total cash and cash equivalents 2,196.4  1,567.0  
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10. Trade and Other Receivables 

Accounting policy applied after 1 April 2019 
The Group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade receivables as well as contract assets and records the 
loss allowance as lifetime expected credit losses. These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering 
the potential for default at any point during the life of the financial instrument. In calculating, the Group uses its historical 
experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses using a provision 
matrix. The Group assess impairment of trade receivables on a collective basis (grouped based on the days past due), as 
they possess shared credit risk characteristics.  Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. 

Accounting policy applied before 1 April 2018 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and generally on 30-day terms. They are recognised at amortised cost less any 
allowance for impairment. Bad debts are written off when they are considered to have become uncollectable.  

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Receivables that are known to be uncollectible are written 
off when identified. An impairment provision is recognised when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able 
to collect the debt. Financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments or debts more than 6 months' overdue are 
considered objective evidence of impairment. Trade receivables are written off as bad debts when all avenues of collection 
have been exhausted. 

Trade and other receivables as at 31 March were as follows: 

 

     
2019 

$ '000s 
2018 

$ '000s 

Trade receivables     4,392.9  2,542.4  

Allowance for credit losses     (196.3) (29.1) 

Related Party receivables     46.1  273.2  

Sundry receivables     525.1  246.7  

Trade and other receivables         4,767.8  3,033.2  
 

The status of trade and other receivables at the reporting date was as follows: 

 
    

 
2019 

$ '000s 
2018 

$ '000s 

 0-30 days    
 2,278.4  2,077.9  

 31-60 days     558.8  631.2  

 61-90 days     1,371.2  25.0  

 
91-120 days - past due, not considered impaired   - 191.0 

 91-120 days - past due, considered impaired   16.6 - 

 121-360 days - past due, not considered impaired   559.4  108.1  

 121-360 days - past due, considered impaired   79.7  22.2  

 360+ days - past due, considered impaired  100.0  6.9  

 Trade and other receivables         4,964.1  3,062.3  

 
Movements in the allowance for credit losses were as follows: 

     2019 2018 
     $ '000s $ '000s 

Balance as at 1 April     (29.1) - 
Loss allowance for the year     (196.3) - 
Arising on acquisition     - (29.1) 
Amounts written off     29.1 - 
Balance as at 31 March         (196.3) (29.1) 
 
The credit risk management policy is disclosed in the Statement of Accounting Policies. The maximum exposure to credit 
risk is the carrying amount of receivables. The directors do not consider there to be any expected credit losses in addition 
to the credit losses recorded above. 
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11. Inventories 

Accounting policy 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  

The cost of raw materials is determined on the average weighted unit cost method and first in first out method, according 
to the product. The cost of purchase comprises the purchase price, import duties and other taxes (other than those 
subsequently recoverable by the entity from the taxing authorities), transport, handling and other costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition of raw materials.  

The cost for work-in-progress and finished goods is comprised of the cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion 
of variable and fixed manufacturing overheads based on normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned on the basis of 
weighted average costs. 

Boats and associated items used for demonstration purposes are classified as inventory unless there is an intention to hold 
and use the asset for an extended period of time (generally more than one year), in which case the assets are classified as 
property, plant and equipment. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs necessary to 
complete and sell the inventory. 

Inventories consisted of the following at 31 March: 

 2019 2018 

$ '000s $ '000s 

Raw materials 6,187.7  4,830.1  

Work-in-progress 8,114.6  2,927.1  

Finished goods 3,678.1  2,057.1  

Total inventories 17,980.4  9,814.3  

  
During 2019 the provision for obsolete inventories recognised as a gain amounted to $0.03 million (2018: expense of 0.46 
million). Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales during the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted to $24.8 
million (2018 - $11.3 million) 
 

12. Contracts in Progress 

Accounting policy 
Contracts in progress are stated at cost plus profit recognised to date, less progress billings and any provision for future 
foreseeable losses. Cost includes all expenditure directly related to specific projects and an allocation of fixed and variable 
overheads incurred in the group’s contract activities based on normal operating capacity. 

As at 31 March, the following contracts were in progress. 

      2019 2018 
      $ '000s $ '000s 
        (Restated) 

 Total contracts in progress         21,282.6  25,207.7  

         
 Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts  9,560.4  7,243.7  
 Estimated earnings   3,880.9  904.8  

      13,441.3  8,148.5  
 Less amounts invoiced to date     (13,290.7) (10,007.1) 
 Foreign currency translation reserve    (243.1) (1.8) 

           (92.5) (1,860.4) 

         
  Contract asset         1,728.3  2,637.7  

 Contract liabilities     (1,820.8) (4,498.1) 

 
     

(92.5) (1,860.4) 
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Accounting policy             
All property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Subsequent expenditure is added to the carrying value of the asset when it is probable 
that future economic benefits in excess of the original assessed standard of performance of the existing asset, will flow to the 
operation and the costs can be measured reliably. All other subsequent expenditure is expensed in the period in which it is 
incurred. 

              
Depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis on property, plant and equipment, at depreciation rates calculated to 
allocate the depreciable amount over the estimated useful life of the assets.  

              

Major depreciation rates are as follows:           

Freehold buildings and improvements   5%       

Leasehold buildings and improvements   Over the lease term     

Plant and equipment     5% - 40%       

Furniture and fittings     6.5% - 33%       

Computer equipment     10% - 30%       

              
Freehold land is not depreciated as it is considered to have an indefinite life. 

              
The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted if 
appropriate. 

              
Property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of the asset's fair value less cost to sell and its value-in-use. For the 
purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level of separately identifiable cash flows. 
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment (cont.) 

 

  
 Land and 
buildings  

 Plant and 
equipment  

 Furniture 
and fittings  

 Computer 
equipment   Total  

  $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s 

Cost as at 1 April 2017                -    2,675.5  91.6  125.0  2,892.1  

Additions  
                    

-    530.5  135.8  110.3  776.6  

Arising on acquisition  1,365.2  2,515.6  412.3  7.9  4,301.0  
Transfers (to/from current 
assets)  

                    
-    23.2  

                     
-                      -    23.2  

Disposals  
                    

-    (268.2) (54.2) (1.4) (323.8) 

Effect of foreign currency translation 76.0  31.1  22.7  0.1  129.9  

Cost as at 31 March 2018  1,441.2  5,507.7  608.2  241.9  7,799.0  

Additions  684.8 880.0  95.1  70.2  1,730.1  

Disposals  - (310.1) (12.7) (2.8) (325.6) 

Effect of foreign currency translation (46.9) 14.3  (17.0) (1.6) (51.2) 

Cost as at 31 March 2019   2,079.1  6,091.9  673.6  307.7  9,152.3  

              

  
 Land and 
buildings  

 Plant and 
equipment  

 Furniture and 
fittings  

 Computer 
equipment   Total  

  $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s 
Accumulated depreciation as at 1 April 
2017 

                    
-    (1,833.7) (63.2) (112.8) 

(2,009.7
) 

Depreciation  (105.7) (407.4) (54.1) (27.9) (595.1) 

Disposals  
                    

-    239.7  52.2  1.0  292.9  
Effect of foreign currency translation (1.9) (0.9) (0.1) 0.1  (2.8) 

Accumulated depreciation as at 31 March 
2018 (107.6) (2,002.3) (65.2) (139.6) (2,314.7) 

Depreciation  
(184.6) (899.2) (90.3) (64.6) (1,238.7) 

Disposals                      
-    228.6  6.8  1.0  236.4  

Effect of foreign currency translation 8.7  13.6  1.2  1.3  24.8  
Accumulated depreciation as at 31 March 
2019 (283.5) (2,659.3) (147.5) (201.9) (3,292.2) 

       

Net book value as at 1 April 2017   
                    

-    841.8  28.4  12.2  882.4  
Net book value as at 31 March 
2018   1,333.6  3,505.4  543.0  102.3  5,484.3  

Net book value as at 31 March 2019 1,795.6  3,432.6  526.1  105.8  5,860.1  
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment (cont.) 

Leased Assets 

Accounting policy 
Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, are 
classified as finance leases. 

Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased assets and the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease is allocated between liability and finance charge to achieve a constant 
rate on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding lease obligations, net of finance charges, are included in current 
and non-current borrowings. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease 
period, so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period (refer 
to note 6). Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance lease is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. 
However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is 
depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term. The useful life for leased assets 
corresponds with the Group policy for the depreciable life of property, plant and equipment. 

Included in property, plant and equipment as at 31 March are assets held under finance leases, where the Group is the 
lessee. Details are as follows: 

    2019 2018 

    $ '000s $ '000s 

Cost    
         

1,662.8  550.1  

Accumulated depreciation    (116.7) (59.1) 

Net book value       1,546.1  491  

 

14. Intangible Assets 

Accounting policy 
Intangible assets consist of goodwill, customer relationships, development costs, brands, patents and trademarks and 
computer software. The intangible assets are initially measured at cost.  The cost of an intangible asset acquired in a business 
combination is recorded at its fair value as at the date of acquisition.  Following initial recognition, intangible assets are 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Goodwill and Brands are considered to have an indefinite life and are therefore carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses. The other intangible assets are considered to have finite lives, and as such are amortised.  

 

Goodwill 
Goodwill is the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the share of net assets acquired. After initial 
recognition, goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses (if any). Goodwill is tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication of impairment. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to 
each of the Group's cash generating units expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose. 
If the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the value-in-use and fair value less costs to sell) of the cash-generating unit is 
less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the unit and then pro-rata to the other assets  of the unit on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in 
the unit. Impairment losses recognised against goodwill are not reversed in subsequent periods. 
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14. Intangible Assets (cont.) 

Other intangible assets 
 

a)  Development costs  

Development costs are recognised as an intangible asset where future benefits are expected to exceed those costs, 
otherwise they are recognised in profit or loss in the period that they are incurred.  Capitalised development costs are 
subject to impairment testing.  Unamortised costs are reviewed at each reporting period to determine the amount (if any) 
that is no longer recoverable and any amount so identified is written off.  An intangible asset arising from development 
expenditure on an internal project is recognised only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing 
the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, 
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the development and the 
ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.  Following the initial 
recognition of the development expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.  Any expenditure so capitalised is amortised over the period 
of expected benefit from the related project. 

b) Customer relationships 

The customer relationships were acquired as part of a business combination (refer note 24). They are recognised at their 
fair value at the date of acquisition using the Multi-Period Earnings Excess approach and are subsequently amortised on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. 

c) Brands, patents and trademarks 

The fair value of brands acquired in a business combination is based on the discounted estimated royalty payments that 
have been avoided as a result of the brand being owned (“relief from royalty method”).  Brands have been assessed to have 
an indefinite life, as they are well established and there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the brands are 
expected to generate net cash inflows for the entity. 

The Group makes upfront payments to register patents and trademarks.  

d)  Computer software 

Computer software acquired, which is not an integral part of a related hardware item, is recognised as an intangible asset. 
The costs incurred internally in developing computer software are also recognised as an intangible asset where the Group 
has a legal right to use the software and the ability to obtain future economic benefits from that software.   

The useful economic life of intangible assets are determined for amortisation as: 

      Development costs  10% - 14% 

       Patents and trademarks  10% 

       Customer Relationships  10% 

       Computer software  20-33% 

       Brands    Indefinite 

Refer to "Significant Accounting Policies" section for an outline of the Group's policy on impairments. 
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14. Intangible Assets (cont.) 

Movements in intangible assets by asset class during the year are as follows: 

  Goodwill  
 Customer 

relationship  
 Development 

costs  

 Brands, 
patents and 
trademarks  

 
Computer 

software   Total  

 $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s 

Cost as at 1 April 2017 
                   

-    
                    

-               2,923.1  
              

527.0  
             

271.4  
            

3,721.5  

Additions 
                   

-    
                    

-                        -    
                 

47.3  
             

49.8  
                 

97.1  
Arising on acquisition of 
subsidiary 

        
6,050.8  

           
3,410.7  

                  
3.6  

           
4,734.0  

             
40.2  

         
14,239.3  

Internally developed 
                   

-    
                    

-    
                  

9.9  
                     

-    
                  

-    
                  

9.9  

Transferred to inventory 
                   

-    
                    

-                        -    
               

(12.8) 
                  

-    
               

(12.8) 

Disposals 
                   

-    
                    

-                   (3.5) 
                     

-    
              

(2.5) 
               

(6.0) 
Effect of foreign currency 
translation 

                   
-    

                    
-                        -    

                  
0.4  

                
2.3  

                   
2.7  

Cost as at 31 March 2018 6,050.8 3,410.7 2,933.1 5,295.9 361.2 18,051.7 

Prior year error (note 24d) (74.2) - - - - (74.2) 
Impact of adoption of IFRS 
15* 

314.3 - - - - 314.3 

Cost as at 1 April 2018 
(restated) 

        
6,290.9  

           
3,410.7             2,933.1  

           
5,295.9  

            
361.2  

          
18,291.8  

Additions 
                   

-    
                    

-                        -    
                   

2.2  
                  

-    
                   

2.2  

Disposals 
                   

-    
                    

-    
               

(9.9) 
                     

-    
                  

-    
                

(9.9) 
Effect of foreign currency 
translation 

                   
-    

                    
-                        -    

                   
0.2  

                 
3.1  

                  
3.3  

Cost as at 31 March 2019 6,290.9 3,410.7 2,923.2 5,298.3 364.3 18,287.4 

 
* Refer to the Statement of Accounting Policies for new standards adopted in 2019 
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14. Intangible Assets (cont.) 

  Goodwill  
 Customer 

relationship  

 
Development 

costs  

 Brands, 
patents and 
trademarks  

 
Computer 

software   Total  

 $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s 
Accumulated amortisation as at 
1 April 2017 

                   
-    

                    
-    

           
(995.5) 

            
(364.9) 

         
(270.7) 

           
(1,631.1) 

Amortisation for the year 
                   

-    
              

(42.6) 
            

(214.3) 
              

(34.3) 
            

(12.6) 
           

(303.8) 

Impairment charge 
          

(523.2) 
                    

-        -    
                     

-    
             

(0.6) 
           

(523.8) 

Transferred to inventory 
                   

-    
                    

-          -    
                     

-    
                

2.3  
                  

2.3  
Effect of foreign currency 
translation 

                   
-    

                    
-             -    

                     
-    

             
(0.2) 

                
(0.2) 

Accumulated amortisation as 
at 31 March 2018 

          
(523.2) 

              
(42.6)         (1,209.8) 

            
(399.2) 

          
(281.8) 

        
(2,456.6) 

Amortisation for the year 
                   

-    
             

(341.1) 
            

(214.2) 
              

(32.6) 
           

(25.4) 
            

(613.3) 

Impairment charge 
     

(3,000.0) 
                    

-      - - 
                  

-    
      

(3,000.0) 

Disposal 
                   

-    - - 
                     

-    
             

(2.0) 
                

(2.0) 
Effect of foreign currency 
translation 

                   
-    - - 

                   
0.1  

                
1.0  

                    
1.1  

Accumulated amortisation as 
at 31 March 2019     (3,523.2) 

        
(383.7)      (1,424.0) 

         
(431.7) 

      
(308.2) 

     
(6,070.8) 

           
Net book value as at 1 April 
2017 

                   
-    

                    
-    

           
1,927.6  

                
162.1  

                
0.7  

          
2,090.4  

Net book value as at:             

- 31 March 2018         5,453.4  
           

3,368.1             1,723.3  
           

4,896.7  
              

79.4  
         

15,520.9  

- 1 April 2018 (restated) 
         

5,767.7  
           

3,368.1             1,723.3  
           

4,896.7  
              

79.4  
         

15,835.2  
Net book value as at 31 March 
2019       2,767.7  

       
3,027.0         1,499.2         4,866.6            56.1  

       
12,216.6  

 
As a result of recent business combinations (refer note 24) in the 2018 reporting period, the Group is now recognising goodwill 
in its Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The provisional period for determining purchase price allocations has now 
passed, and therefore goodwill recognised is now considered final. 

Goodwill, Brands and Impairment tests 
 
Goodwill and brands are monitored by management at the level of the operating segments identified in note 15. 

A segment-level summary of the allocation of goodwill and brands is presented below. 

     2019 2018 

     $ '000s $ '000s 

Goodwill        

Willard     
          

2,116.0  4,801.7  

Sealegs Europe, part of Sealegs Group    651.7  651.7  

Net book value     2,767.7  5,453.4  

       

Brands       

Sillinger     2,626.3 2,626.3 

Willard     2,097.4 2,097.4 

Net book value         4,723.7  4,723.7 
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14. Intangible Assets (cont.) 

The group tests whether goodwill and brands have suffered any impairment on an annual basis. For the 2019 and 2018 
reporting period, the recoverable amount of the cash generating units (CGUs) was determined based on value-in-use 
calculations which require the use of assumptions. The calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets 
approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the 
estimated growth rates stated below. These growth rates are consistent with forecasts included in industry reports specific 
to the industry in which each CGU operates. 

The following table sets out the key assumptions: 

 
Willard Sillinger Sealegs  

Europe 
    

Sales growth rate 19.1% 17.6% 20.0% 

Discount rate 21.3% 12.5% 15.0% 

 

An impairment in the carrying value of the goodwill has been recognised of $3.0 million (2018: nil) relating to Willard as at 
31 March 2019, as a result of it not achieving revenue targets and increased working capital requirements. 

The entire goodwill balance of $0.523 million relating to the Lancer Industries was impaired as at 31 March 2018, following 
the loss of a long-term customer supply agreement which prompted a change in focus for the business. 

 
 

15. Segmental Information 

Accounting policy             

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity's chief operating decision maker to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance and for which discrete financial 
information is available. 

              

The Group's chief operating decision maker is the Board. The Board reviews the operating results as follows: 
 
- Sealegs Group, consisting of Sealegs International Limited, Sealegs (US) Corporation, Sealegs Europe S.A.S and Lancer 
Industries Limited which is in the business of manufacturing and selling amphibious boats. 
- Willard Marine Incorporated ("Willard Marine") which manufactures and sells high grade rigid inflatable boats, primarily 
for the United States Navy and other US governmental organisations. 
- Sillinger S.A.S. ("Sillinger"), which manufactures and sells foldable and semi-rigid boats for military and professional use. 
              

As a result of the business combinations in the 2018 reporting period, the manner in which the Group reports has changed. 
The prior year segment report has been restated to reflect the change. 
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15. Segmental Information (cont.) 

 

Operating results by segment for the year ended 31 March 2019 comprised: 

 

    
Sealegs 

Group Willard Sillinger 

 Corporate 
and 

eliminations   Consolidated  
    $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s 

              
Revenue from external customers 

 
24,344.3 15,655.1 12,135.0 - 52,134.4 

Revenue from customers 
 

24,344.3 15,655.1 12,135.0 - 52,134.4 
       
Cost of sales and other direct costs 

 
(16,919.2) (13,138.1) (7,526.0) - (37,583.3) 

       
Gross margin 

 
7,425.1 2,517.0 4,609.0 - 14,551.1 

       
Operating expenses 

 
(6,107.5) (3,489.4) (3,925.6) (1,535.4) (15,057.9) 

Other income 
 

222.4 - 322.5 - 544.9 

Total operating expenses and other income (5,885.1) (3,489.4) (3,603.1) (1,535.4) (14,513.0) 
       
Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation, amortisation and 
other items 

 
1,540.0 (972.4) 1,005.9 (1,535.4) 38.1 

       
Depreciation and amortisation 

 
(772.0) (690.6) (389.4) - (1,852.0) 

Impairment 
 

- (3,000.0) - - (3,000.0) 

Litigation fees and acquisition costs (208.4) 0.4 (55.1) (188.0) (451.1) 

Unrealised foreign currency differences - - - (398.0) (398.0) 

Net finance cost 
 

(198.5) (383.8) (34.6) (124.5) (741.4) 

Profit / (loss) before tax  361.1 (5,046.4) 526.8 (2,245.9) (6,404.4) 

Income tax expense 

 

- 139.8 (62.3) - 77.5 
              

 Profit / (loss) after tax    
           

361.1  
     

(4,906.6) 
          

464.5      (2,245.9)       (6,326.9) 

 

  
Sealegs 

Group Willard Sillinger 

 Corporate 
and 

eliminations  
 

Consolidated  
    $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s 

Total assets  13,430.7 13,713.2 20,274.2 517.3 47,935.4 
       
Total liabilities  (8,774.6) (6,270.6) (15,877.3) (10,696.1) (41,618.6) 
       
Inter-segment balances  (5,580.6) (5,505.0) 719.4 10,366.2 -        
Capital expenditure  692.8 1.1 1,036.2 - 1,730.1 
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15. Segmental Information (cont.) 

Operating results by segment for the year ended 31 March 2018 comprised: 

 

    
Sealegs 

Group Willard Sillinger 

 Corporate 
and 

eliminations   Consolidated  
    $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s 
              
Revenue from external customers  21,601.5 1,886.0 6,640.4 - 30,127.9 

Revenue from customers  21,601.5 1,886.0 6,640.4 - 30,127.9        
Cost of sales and other direct 
costs  (15,634.4) (1,838.6) (4,145.8) - (21,618.8)        
Gross margin  5,967.1 47.4 2,494.6 - 8,509.1        
Operating expenses  (4,593.0) (390.5) (2,076.7) (1,328.1) (8,388.3) 
Other income  155.9 4.8 5.6 - 166.3 

Total operating expenses and other income (4,437.1) (385.7) (2,071.1) (1,328.1) (8,222.0)        
Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation, amortisation and 
other items  1,530.0 (338.3) 423.5 (1,328.1) 287.1        
Depreciation and amortisation  (572.2) (91.5) (235.8) - (899.5) 
Impairment  - - - (523.2) (523.2) 
Litigation fees and acquisition costs (1,057.7) - - (206.1) (1,263.8) 
Net finance cost  (57.2) (2.0) (35.5) (139.9) (234.6) 
       
Profit / (loss) before tax  (157.1) (431.8) 152.2 (2,197.3) (2,634.0)        
Income tax expense  - 17.5 46.4 - 63.9 
              

 Profit / (loss) after tax    (157.1) (414.3) 198.6 (2,197.3) (2,570.1) 

 

  
Sealegs 

Group Willard Sillinger 

 Corporate 
and 

eliminations  
 

Consolidated  
  $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s 
       

Total assets  11,380.7 18,033.6 2,626.3 8,867.2 40,907.8        
Total liabilities  (6,843.6) (9,602.7) (6,960.6) (7,870.3) (31,277.1)        
Inter-segment balances  (5,799.3) (345.2) - 6,144.5 -        
Capital expenditure  585.5 - 191.1 - 776.6 

 

   Inter-segment transactions during the year consisted of loan advances, repayments and interest. 

   Capital expenditure represents direct expenditure on property, plant, equipment and intangible assets. 

 

Geographic information 

   Refer to note 1 for Revenue from customers and associated cost recognition for geographical segment data. 

Customer information 

   No individual external customer accounted for more than 10% of the Group's revenue.  
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16. Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings 

Accounting policy 
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable 
transaction costs. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. Amortised cost is calculated using the effective rate method whereby any discount, premium or transaction costs 
associated with borrowing are amortised to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income over the borrowing 
period. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date. 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings consisted of the following at 31 March: 

 

Note 

2019 2018 
$ '000s $ '000s 

(Restated) 
CURRENT 

Bank loans and overdrafts  
1,494.2  654.2  

Loans from related parties 22 1,751.5  1,191.0  
Obligations under finance leases 23 128.3  191.6  

Total current interest-bearing loans and borrowings  3,374.0  2,036.8  

NON-CURRENT 
Bank loans and overdrafts 
Loans from related parties 
Obligations under finance leases 

22 
23 

1,076.2  
2,122.8 

195.1  

  
1,283.9                    

681.4 
315.3  

Total non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings  3,394.1  2,280.6  

TOTAL 
Bank loans and overdrafts  2,570.4  1,938.1  
Loans from related parties 22 3,874.3  1,872.4  
Obligations under finance leases 23 323.4  506.9  

Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings  6,768.1  4,317.4  
 

Bank loan and overdrafts include a secured loan from BNZ of $1.4 million (2018: $1.5 million), bearing interest at 7.01% per 
annum. Maturity date of 21 February 2021 and security by way of a General Security Agreement over the assets of Sealegs 
International. 

Movements in bank loans and overdrafts were as follows: 
    

       
     2019 2018 

     $ '000s $ '000s 

Balance as at 1 April     1,938.1  
                    

-    

Arising on acquisition     
                  

-    651.7  

Proceeds of borrowings     1,224.4  1,554.4  

Repayments     (577.3) (304.2) 

Effect of foreign currency translation    (14.8) 36.2  

Balance as at 31 March         2,570.4  1,938.1  

The group have several finance leases. These include land and buildings, plant and equipment which expire within the next 
four years. 

For detail relating to related party loans, refer to note 22.  
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16. Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings (cont.) 

Total borrowings at 31 March were held in the following currencies: 

    Current   Non-current  

   2019 2018 2019 2018 

   NZ$ '000s NZ$ '000s NZ$ '000s NZ$ '000s    
      

US dollar 
  

974.2 1,222.4 2,122.8 - 
Euro 

  
1,804.9 319.4 441.7 1,290.2 

New Zealand dollars 
  

594.9 495.0 829.6 990.40 

Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings   
     3,374.0  

       
2,036.8  

    3,394.1    2,280.6  

 

17. Trade and Other Payables 

Accounting policy 
Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and due to their short-term nature, they are not discounted. 
They represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are 
unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods 
and services. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

Contingent consideration is measured at the present value of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation 
at the reporting date. This is Level 3 on the fair value hierarchy. If the effect of the time value of money was to be 
material, the liability would be discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money and is 
specific to the liability. The increase in the liability resulting from the passage of time is recognised in "Net finance costs" 
in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Other changes in the provision due to events occurring after 
the acquisition date are recognised in "Litigation fees, acquisition costs and listing costs" in the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income.  

 

Trade and other payables consisted of the following at 31 March: 
 2019 2018 

$ '000s $ '000s 
Trade payables 15,440.7  6,944.4  

Employee entitlements 1,798.7  1,643.3  

Deferred consideration 6,950.7  6,521.7  

Contingent consideration 357.3  277.9  

Sundry payables and accruals 747.1  486.7  

Total trade and other payables 25,294.5  15,874.0  

Current  

 

12,794.1  22,218.0  

Non-current 3,076.5  3,079.9  

Total trade and other payables 25,294.5  15,874.0  

 
At 31 March, all trade and other payables balances other than deferred and contingent consideration were due within 6 
months of the reporting date. Due to short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate 
their fair value. The contractual cash flows for deferred consideration is outlined in the liquidity risk note. 
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17. Trade and Other Payables (cont.) 

In accordance with the revised terms of the deferred consideration referred to in note 24 d), a payment of US$1.25 million 
was settled subsequent to year end. 

The contingent consideration recorded by the Group relates to the acquisition of Lancer (refer to note 24 c). If Future 
Mobility Solutions' share price does not achieve a price of 27 cents during the two-year period post-acquisition, then a 
further cash payment will be required. 

For terms and conditions relating to related party payables refer to note 22.  

18. Deferred Revenue 

Accounting policy 
Deferred revenue reflects deposits received for boat purchases. Deposits on orders are held as a current liability on the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position until such time that revenue from the sale is recognised in profit or loss. 

 2019 2018 

$ '000s $ '000s 

Deferred revenue as at 1 April 3,004.3 778.2 
Arising during the year 5,006.0 5,777.4 
Arising on acquisition - 362.5 
Recognised profit and loss (4,131.4) (3,922.3) 

Effect of foreign currency translation (12.4) 8.5 

Deferred revenue as at 31 March 3,866.5 3,004.3 

 

19. Warranty Provisions 

Accounting policy             
              
Provisions for warranty related costs are recognised when the boat is sold, or service provided to the customer. In 
determining the level of provision required for warranty expenses the Group has made judgements in respect of the 
expected performance of the product and the costs of fulfilling any warranty claims. 
 

            
In determining the level of provision required for warranty expenses the Group has made judgements in respect of the 
expected performance of the product and the costs of fulfilling any warranty claims. Historical evidence and current 
knowledge of the performance of the products has been used in determining this provision. 

             

          2019 2018 
          $ '000s $ '000s 

Balance as at 1 April     781.4 132.0 

Amount provided during the year     516.2 435.4 

Arising on acquisition     - 300.7 

Amount utilised and released     (422.0) (96.0) 

Effect of foreign currency translation     (3.1) 9.3 

Balance as at 31 March     872.5 781.4 
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20. Contributed Equity 

Accounting policy 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds (2018: nil).  

There are 178,173,592 ordinary shares (2018: 148,478,172). The shares are fully paid and have no par value. All ordinary 

shares have equal voting rights and share equally in dividends and surplus on winding up. There are no uncalled 

shares as at 31 March 2019 (2018: nil).  

Movements in ordinary shares on issue 

 Note Shares $ 
Ordinary shares (issued and authorised) as at 31 March 2017    134,517,795 56,602,440  

Ordinary shares issued in respect of share-based payment for services  3,000,000  420,000  

Ordinary shares issued in respect of Sillinger acquisition 24 a) 3,625,377  529,305  

Ordinary shares issued in respect of Sealegs Europe acquisition 24 b) 5,350,000  668,750  

Ordinary shares issued in respect of Lancer acquisition 24 c) 1,985,000  270,000  

Ordinary shares (issued and authorised) as at 31 March 2018  148,478,172  58,490,495  

Ordinary shares issued on 3 October 2018  29,695,420  3,533,724  

Ordinary shares (issued and authorised) as at 31 March 2019  178,173,592  62,024,219  

 

The value of the shares issued is based on the current share price on the date of issue. 

On 24 August 2018, the Company invited its shareholders to subscribe to a fully underwritten rights issue of 29,695,420 
ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.125 per share on the basis of 1 share for every 5 shares held. The rights offer 
completed on 28 September 2018 and the shares were issued and allotted on 3 October 2018, with such shares ranking 
equally in all respects with the existing fully paid shares. The rights issue raised $3.5 million (net of $0.2 million in capital 
raising costs) and the proceeds were used to settle existing debt as well as well as fund ongoing working capital 
requirements. 

Capital management  

When managing capital, management's objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well as to maintain 
optimal returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. Management also aims to maintain a capital structure 
that ensures the lowest cost of capital available to the entity.  The capital structure of the Group consists of Shareholders' 
Equity and debt. 

As the market is constantly changing, management may issue new shares or rights. 

No dividends were paid or declared in the 2019 reporting period (2018: nil). Management do not plan to pay dividends for 
the foreseeable future. 
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21. Subsidiaries 

    Percent held  

Subsidiaries:  Country of incorporation  2019 2018 

Lancer Industries Limited  New Zealand   100%  100%  

Sealegs Europe S.A.S.  France   100%  100%  

Sealegs International Limited  New Zealand   100%  100%  

Sealegs (US) Corporation  United States of America  100%  100%  

Sillinger S.A.S.  France   70%  70%  

Willard Marine Incorporated  United States of America  100%  100%  
 

22. Related Party Transactions 

a) Transactions with related parties 

During the year, the following related party loan transactions took place between the Company and related parties: 
 

  

 Capital Key 
Holdings 

Limited 

 Avenport 
Investment 

Corporation  

 Oryx 
Investment 

Limited 

 Groupe 
Marck 

Holdings 
 Total  

  $ ‘000s $ ‘000s $ ‘000s $ ‘000s $ ‘000s 

Balance as at 1 April 2017  
                    

-    
                    

-    
                     

-    
                  

-    
                    

-    

Arising on acquisition  
                    

-    
                    

-    
                     

-    820.5  820.5  

Loans advanced  856.8  521.1  
                     

-    
                  

-    1,377.9  

Repayments and interest  
                    

-    (189.7) 
                     

-    (233.4) (423.1) 

Effect of foreign currency translation 6.1  (3.3) 
                     

-    94.3  97.1  

Balance as at 1 April 2018  862.9  328.1                 -    681.4  1,872.4  

Loans advanced  655.5  290.4  1,956.9  135.0  3,037.8  

Repayments and interest  (932.8) (353.9) 138.9  - (1,147.8) 

Effect of foreign currency translation 75.8  30.2  27.0  (21.1) 111.9  

Balance as at 31 March 2019   
          

661.4           294.8          2,122.8          795.3         3,874.3  

       
Interest rate per annum  11.93% 11.93% 11.93% 1.53%  
Security  Unsecured Unsecured Unsecured Unsecured  

 

Ulrich Gottschling, a Director of the Company and the CEO of Willard, has issued a promissory note to Willard for 
US$675.0 thousand associated with the exercise of stock options prior to the acquisition of Willard by the Company. This 
has been recorded as a non-current financial asset in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The loan bears 
interest at a rate of 2% per annum. On the first anniversary of the acquisition (16 February 2019) 50% of the principal and 
interest was forgiven, with the balance being forgiven on the second anniversary (16 February 2020), so long as Mr 
Gottschling remains employed by Willard on those dates. The loan balance on 31 March 2019 was $434.0 thousand (2018: 
$952.8 thousand). 
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22. Related Party Transactions (cont.) 

 
b) Compensation for Key Management Personnel 

Accounting policy 
Key management personnel are those persons with authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any Director. 

The total remuneration paid or accrued for key management personnel for the years ended 31 March comprised: 

     2019 2018 

     $ '000s $ '000s 

Short-term employee benefits     
         

1,529.2  
            

1,150.3  

Post-employment benefits     
                    

-  
                  

4.0  

Share based payments     
                    

-  
              

210.0  

Total remuneration               1,529.2  
        

1,364.3  

 
 

Mark Broadley, through Capital Key, and Eric Series through Latitudes Consulting SA, have been contracted by the Company 
to provide assistance outside of their capacity as Directors in connection with recent acquisitions. These contracts both 
commenced on 1 April 2018 and will terminate on 31 March 2021, unless terminated earlier. Capital Key and Latitudes 
Consulting SA will each receive an annual fee of US$150.0 thousand (NZ$219.5 thousand) payable quarterly in arrears. Trade 
and other payables include NZ$209.0 thousand of outstanding management fees as at 31 March 2019. 

23. Commitments  

Accounting policy - Leases 
The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and 
requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets 
and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. 

A lease is classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease that transfers substantially all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Group is classified as a finance lease. 

Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and the reduction of the 
lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Finance charges are 
recognised in "Net finance cost" in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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23. Commitments (Cont.) 

a) Operating lease commitments 
 
The group leases various offices, warehouses, vehicles under non-cancellable operating leases. The leases have varying 
terms and renewal rights.  

Minimum lease payment payable under non-cancellable operating leases at 31 March are as follows: 

    2019 2018 

    $ '000s $ '000s 

Less than one year    
         

1,482.6  
           

1,093.3  

Later than one year but less than five years   
          

2,118.2  
               

281.5  

Total minimum lease payments       
     

3,600.8  
        

1,374.8  

      
b) Finance lease commitments 

Future minimum lease payments under finance leases together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments 
as at 31 March were as follows: 

  2019 2018 

  $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s $ '000s 

  Minimum Present value Minimum Present value 

  lease of minimum lease of minimum 

  payments 
lease 

payments payments 
lease 

payments 

        
Less than one year                142.0                 128.3  199.2  191.6  
Later than one year but less than five 
years               212.0                  195.1  359.4  315.3  

Later than five years                      -                         -                      -                        -    
Total minimum lease 
payments            354.0            323.4          558.6           506.9 

Future finance charges on finance leases                     -                         -                      -                        -    
Present values of minimum lease 
payments          354.0            323.4          558.6           506.9  

 
c) Commitments for property, plant and equipment 
 
There are no commitments for property, plant and equipment at the reporting date. 

 
d) Other commitments 
 
As part of the normal trade operations, performance guarantees have been entered into by the Sillinger and Willard 
businesses. FMS has entered into performance guarantee agreements in support of its subsidiary’s activities.  



 

Page | 43 

24. Business Combinations 

Accounting policy 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of non-
controlling interest in the acquiree. The noncontrolling interest is valued at the proportionate share of the acquiree's 
identifiable net assets. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred and included in "Litigation fees, acquisition costs 
and listing costs" in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (see note 4).  

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification 
and designation in accordance with contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions at the acquisition 
date. 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Where 
the contingent consideration is recognised as a liability and changes in value are the result of events occurring after the 
acquisition date, the contingent consideration is remeasured to fair value and the changes in fair value recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

The fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities are now finalised. They were preliminary in 2018 and finalised in 2019 
(refer to note 24.d) for adjustments made). 

a) Sillinger S.A.S 

On 14 August 2017, the Company acquired a 70% interest in Sillinger S.A.S. ("Sillinger"). French based Sillinger is one 
of the most trusted manufacturers of Hypalon rigid inflatable boats ("RIBs") to the military and defence sectors. 

Details of the acquisition are as follows: 

      Fair value 

      acquired 
       $ '000s  
        

Cash and cash equivalents      1,573.1 
Inventories      3,069.9 
Other current assets      682.7 
Property, plant and equipment      2,107.7 
Intangible assets - Brands and other      2,666.7 
Other non-current asset      31.7 
Current loans and borrowings      (436.8) 
Other current liabilities and provision     (3,083.6) 
Non-current loans and borrowings      (1,531.0) 
Deferred tax liability      (870.7) 

Net identifiable assets acquired      4,209.7 
Non-controlling interest in Sillinger      (1,262.9) 

Net identifiable assets acquired, after non-controlling interests   2,946.9 
Goodwill arising on acquisition      - 

Net assets on acquisition      2,946.9 
       

Shares issued      529.3 
Cash paid      2,417.6 

Total consideration      2,946.9 

 
Groupe Marck Holdings were issued 3,625,377 shares at a fair value of NZ$0.146 per share as part of the consideration 
and the balance was paid in cash. 

Sillinger contributed revenue of $12.1 million and a profit of $0.5 million to the results of the Group for the year to 31 
March 2019 (2018: $6.6 million and a profit of $0.3 million). If the acquisition of Sillinger had occurred at the beginning 
of the previous reporting period, revenue of $10.9 million would have been included in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income for 2018. 
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24. Business Combinations (Cont.) 

b) Sealegs Europe S.A.S 

On 21 September 2017, the Company acquired 100% of the shares in Sealegs Europe S.A.S ("Sealegs Europe") from 
QCPM Group Limited ("QCPM"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company's largest shareholder, c ("Avenport"). 

Sealegs Europe is the master dealer that currently represents the Company in Europe, Africa and a number of other 
territories in the Indian Ocean.  

Details of the acquisition are as follows: 
      Fair value 

      acquired 

      $'000s  

        
Inventories      175.7  
Other current assets      13.4  
Other current liabilities           (361.7) 
Net identifiable assets 
acquired      (172.6) 
Goodwill arising on 
acquisition      651.7  
Net assets on acquisition           479.1  

        
Shares issued      668.8  
Indemnity settlement      (189.7) 
Total consideration           479.1  

 

QCPM Group were issued 5,350,000 shares at a fair value of NZ$0.125 per share for the consideration of 100% 
ownership in Sealegs Europe. The consideration was subsequently reduced by the value of an indemnity in relation 
to certain specified liabilities in the sale and purchase agreement. This indemnity was settled by way of set-off against 
the Shareholder loan from Avenport.  

Sealegs Europe contributed revenue of $0.75 million and a loss of $0.08 million to the results of the Group for the 
year to 31 March 2019 (2018: $0.45 million and a loss of $0.16 million). If the acquisition of Sealegs Europe had occurred 
at the beginning of the previous reporting period, revenue of $1.0 million and a profit of $0.2 million would have been 
included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for 2018. 

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Sealegs Europe was attributed to the ability to sell boats in the applicable 
region at a higher unit price as, from a group perspective, they are sold direct to customers rather than through a 
third-party dealer. There was also expected to be some cost rationalisation.  
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24. Business Combinations (Cont.) 

c) Lancer Industries Limited 

On 2 October 2017, the Company acquired 100% of the shares in Lancer Industries Limited. Lancer is a leader in the 
manufacture of inflatable boats and products. 

Details of the acquisition are as follows: 

    
Fair 

value 

    acquired 

     $ '000s 
Cash and cash 
equivalents    25.3  

Inventories    694.2  

Other current assets    174.1  
Property, plant and 
equipment    40.3  

Intangible assets    13.7  
Obligations under finance 
leases    (24.4) 

Other current liabilities and provision     (538.2) 
Net tangible assets 
acquired    385.0  
Goodwill arising on acquisition 
(provisional)   523.2  
Net assets on 
acquisition       908.2  

      

Cash paid    300.0  

Deferred consideration    100.0  

Shares issued    270.0  

Contingent consideration    238.2  

Total consideration       908.2  
 

Lancer contributed revenue of $0.9 million and a loss of $0.3 million to the results of the Group for the year to 31 March 
2019 (2018: $0.7 million and a loss of $0.2 million). If the acquisition of Lancer had occurred at the beginning of the 
previous reporting period, revenue of $1.4 million would have been included in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Lancer has been impaired post acquisition (Refer note 3). 

As part of the purchase agreement with the former owners of Lancer, contingent consideration has been agreed. If 
Future Mobility Solutions' share price does not achieve a price of 27 cents over the two years to 2 October 2019, a further 
cash payment will be made by the Company. As at the acquisition date, the fair value of the contingent consideration 
was estimated to be $238.2 thousand. This fair value has been calculated using a binomial model with a knock-out option. 
At the reporting date, the contingent liability was reassessed and is determined to be $357.3 thousand (2018: $277.9 
thousand), based on the expected probable outcome. A charge of $79.4 thousand (2018: $39.7 thousand) has therefore 
been recognised to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 March 2019. 
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24. Business Combinations (Cont.) 

d) Willard Marine Incorporated 
 
On 16 February 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the shares in Willard Marine Incorporated. Willard is 
headquartered in the United States of America and is an industry leading aluminium and composite boat 
manufacturer. 

Details of the acquisition are as 
follows:   Fair value  Adjustments  Fair value 

    2018  Restated 
     $ '000s   $ '000s   $ '000s  

         
Cash and cash equivalents    726.0  726.0 
Inventories    1,198.5  1,198.5 
Contract assets    2,365.6 (240.1) 2,125.5 
Other current assets    711.1  711.1 
Property, plant and equipment    2,153.1  2,153.1 
Intangible assets - Brands and 
other 

   2,097.4  2,097.4 

Intangible assets - Customer 
relationships 

  3,410.7  3,410.7 

Other non-current financial assets    912.4  912.4 
Contract liabilities    (4,685.3)  (4,685.3) 
Other current liabilities and provisions   (3,330.0)  (3,330.0) 
Deferred tax liability    (1,984.5)  (1,984.5) 

Net identifiable assets acquired    3,575.0 (240.1) 3,334.9 
Goodwill arising on acquisition    4,875.9  5,116.0 

Net assets on acquisition    8,450.9 - 8,450.9 

Cash paid at acquisition (US$1.65 
million) 

  2,230.4  2,230.4 

Cash (US$ 2.6 million) deferred until first anniversary of 
completion, at fair value 

3,237.8  3,237.8 

Cash (US$ 2.6 million) deferred until second anniversary of 
completion, at fair value 

2,982.7  2,982.7 

Total consideration    8,450.9  8,450.9 

 
The fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities acquired have been reduced by $240.1 thousand since acquisition, 
thereby increasing goodwill by the same amount. The adjustment is the net impact of the adoption of NZ IFRS 15 and 
the correction of an error. Willard contributed revenue of $15.1 million and a loss of $2.1 million to the results of the Group 
for the year to 31 March 2019 (2018: $2.1 million and a loss of $0.3 million).  If the acquisition of Willard had occurred at 
the beginning of the previous reporting period, revenue of $14.1 million and a loss of $2.6 million would have been 
included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Willard has been impaired by $3.0 million since acquisition (Refer note 3). 

The deferred cash consideration payable is interest free.  The instalment payments have been discounted to net present 
value using a market interest rate. During the current reporting period, revised payment terms were agreed that do not 
change the total consideration to be paid (US$ 6.85 million), but the revision has resulted in a reduction in the fair value 
of the consideration outstanding by NZ $353.8 thousand (Refer to note 6). 
 
Original deferred settlement terms are shown above. New terms will see the settlement paid in cash as follows: 
 

(i) at acquisition, US$ 1.65 million in cash (Paid) 
(ii) on 31st March 2019, a further US$ 1.25 million 
(iii) on 31st March 2020, a further US$ 1.5 million 
(iv) on 31st March 2021, a further US$ 2.45 million 
 
 
 



 

Page | 47 

25. Contingent Liabilities 
 

There are no contingent liabilities at the reporting date. 
 

26. Events After the Reporting Period  
 

The deferred consideration payment of US$ 1.25 million (referred to in notes 17 and 24d) has been settled subsequent 
to year end, primarily funded through additional shareholder loans. 
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 

Principal Activities 
The principal activity of the Group is the manufacture of marine craft. 

Twenty largest shareholders as at 31 May 2019 

 
 

Number of 
shares held 

Percentage 
held 

Avenport Mobility Systems Limited  31,884,048 17.89 

Citibank Nominees (New Zealand) Limited – NZSCSD 16,903,219 9.49 

Oryx Investment Limited  16,264,001 9.13 

HSBC Nominees (New Zealand) Limited – NZCSD  14,808,907 8.31 

Avenport Investment Corporation  13,595,815 7.63 

Raphael Chaikin  7,760,000 4.36 

QCPM Group Limited  6,420,000 3.60 

Brian Ernest Taylor  4,650,000 2.61 

Groupe Marck Holdings  3,625,377 2.03 

Izard Investments Ltd  3,153,628 1.77 

Kenneth McKee Wright & Christina Carol McKee Wright 2,720,000 1.53 

Tracy Ann Bryham  2,645,000 1.48 

Pad Saint Riom SA  2,483,836 1.39 

Maurice Duncan Priest  2,200,000 1.23 

4 Eyes Limited  2,027,318 1.14 

Marco Erwin Kleyn  1,898,483 1.07 

Kenron Trading Limited  1,885,750 1.06 

Fraser Wright Maddigan  1,847,887 1.04 

Richard Lanyon Poor  1,809,390 1.02 

Lnyon Limited  1,714,527 0.96 

    

Total  140,297,186 78.74 

    

Total number of shares on issue  178,173,592 100.00 

 
Substantial shareholders as at 31 May 2019 

   
Number of 

Shares Held 
Percentage 

Held      
   

Avenport Mobility Systems Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of Avenport 
Investment Corporation) 

31,884,048 18 % 

Avenport Investment Corporation 
 

 13,595,815 8 % 

QCPM Group Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of Avenport Investment 
Corporation) 

6,420,000 4 % 

Refer Director Shareholdings  
 51,899,863 30 % 

Capital Key Holdings Limited (the registered holder being the custodian - 
Citibank Nominees (New Zealand) Limited) 

16,903219 9 % 

Oryx Investment Limited 14,808,907 9 % 
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Distribution of shareholders and holdings as at 31 May 2019 

Size of holding 
Number of 

shareholders 
Number of 

shares 
Holding 

quantity % 
2,000 to 4,999 528 1,666,952 0.94 

5,000 to 9,999 298 2,029,199 1.14 

10,000 to 49,999 433 8,629,473 4.84 

50,000 to 99,999 91 5,879,992 3.30 

100,000 to 499,999 59 10,415,127 5.85 

500,000 to 999,999 7 5,039,867 2.83 

1,000,000 and over 23 144,512,982 81.11 

Total 
                

1,439  
    

178,173,592  
           

100.00  

 
Directors holding office during the year 

  Appointed 

Eric Series  4/08/2010 

Mark Broadley  16/02/2011 

Christopher Weir  20/10/2011 

Wayne Mapp  11/11/2014 

Ulrich Gottschling  16/02/2018 
 

Disclosure of Directors' interests in shares 

As at 31 March 2019, Directors held the following interests in the shares of the Company: 

  Shares 

Eric Series  51,899,863 

Mark Broadley  16,903,219 

Wayne Mapp  180,000 
 

Share dealings by Directors 

As disclosed in note 20 of the consolidated financial statements, the Company completed a rights issue during the 
2019 year. All of the Directors holding shares took up their rights, and Mark Broadley, through Capital Key Holdings 
Limited, underwrote the rights issue. The number of shares taken up as a result of the rights issue were as follows: 

  Shares 

Eric Series  9,879,972 

Mark Broadley  14,875,188 

Wayne Mapp  30,000 
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Entries in the interests register 

The Company has entered into deeds of indemnity with each director pursuant to which it has agreed to indemnify 
them against liability incurred by them arising out of their acts or omissions in their capacity as a director of the 
Company, subject to certain exceptions which are normal in such indemnities. 

The Company has in place directors' and officers' liability insurance to cover risks normally covered by such policies 
arising from acts or omissions of directors or employees of the Company in that capacity. 

 
There were transactions with directors. Refer Note 22 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional 
information. 

 
Independent directors 

The Board has determined the following directors' to be Independent Directors: 
- Christopher Weir 
- Wayne Mapp 

The remaining directors are not independent due to their shareholding interests or their employment within the Future 
Mobility Solutions group. 

Remuneration of directors and employees 

The Board is committed to an executive remuneration framework that is focused on achieving a high-performance 
culture and linking executive pay to the achievement of the Company strategy and business objectives which, 
ultimately, create sustainable long-term value for shareholders. 

Directors' remuneration is paid in the form of directors' fees. Additional fees are paid in respect of work carried out by 
directors on the Audit Committee to reflect the additional time and responsibilities involved. Fees paid to directors are 
subject to shareholder approval. Future Mobility Solutions meets directors' reasonable travel and other costs 
associated with the Group's business.  

Remuneration of Directors 

The following people held office as a director during the year to 31 March 2018 and received the following 
remuneration during the period: 
 

 
Total 

fees paid 

Non-Executive Directors   

Christopher Weir $40,000 

Eric Series1 $244,500 

Wayne Mapp $40,000 

   

Executive Directors   

Mark Broadley1 $259,500 

Ulrich Gottschling (appointed 16 Feb 2018)2 $375,992 
 

 
1  
Includes management fees for services provided beyond those expected to be provided in their capacity as directors. 
2  
Consists of salary and benefits received in his capacity as an employee. 
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Remuneration of Employees 

Section 211(1)(g) of the New Zealand Companies Act 1993 requires disclosure of remuneration and other benefits, 
including redundancy and other payments made on termination of employment, in excess of $100,000 per year, paid 
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries worldwide to any employees who are not Directors of the Company. The 
number of employees as at 31 March 2018 who are not directors, whose remuneration and benefits exceeded $100,000 
in the financial year was: 

 
 

Employees  

$100,001 - $110,000 
                      

1  

$110,001 - $120,000 
                      

1  

$140,001 - $150,000 
                      

1  

$150,001 - $160,000 
                      

2  

$160,001 - $170,000 
                      

1  

$170,001 - $200,000 
                      

2  

$210,001 - $250,000 
                      

1  

$300,001 - $310,000 
                      

1  

 
                    

10  

 

Donations and Auditor's Fees 

Donations and auditors' fees are set out in Note 2 and Note 5 respectively, of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Annual general meeting 

The 2019 Annual General Meeting of Future Mobility Solutions Limited is to be held on 27 September 2019 at 9:00 am, at 
the offices of Sealegs International Limited, 5 Unity Drive South, Auckland, New Zealand. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
The Company and Group are committed to a high standard of corporate behaviour and ethics and has adopted a code 
of ethics and board, audit and remuneration committee charters.  These principles differ from NZX's Corporate 
Governance Best Practice Code only in that: 

a) the Company has not established a nominations committee; and 
b) given the size of the board, the Company's Audit Committee has a majority of non-executive directors; and 
c) following the recent acquisitions, we are in the process of formalising our risk management framework, ensuring 

that all material risks are captured and documented appropriately; and 
d) the Company does not have a formal diversity policy due to the size of the organisation. 

Directors board meeting attendance 

The table below reports attendance at Board and Audit Committee meetings during the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 
2019. 

      Board  Audit Committee 

      Meetings 1 Attended Meetings Attended 
Directors              

Eric Series (Chairman)    4 4     

Christopher Weir     4 4 2 2 

Mark Broadley     4 4 2 2 

Wayne Mapp     4 3 2 2 

Ulrich Gottschling (appointed 16 February 2018)  4 3     
 

1The number of meetings for which the Director or Officer was a member. 

The function of the Audit Committee is to assist the board in carrying out its responsibilities regarding management's 
accounting practices, policies and controls relative to the Company and Groups' financial results and to review and make 
appropriate inquiry into the audits of the Company and Groups accounts. 

Diversity 

A breakdown of gender composition of directors and officers as at 31 March 2019 is shown below; 

 
 Male Female 
Directors 5 - 

Officers1, 1 3 - 

1 Excludes Chief Executive Officer (included in breakdown of Directors) 

 
For and on behalf of the board: 

 
 
   
      

 

 

 

                                                             
1 Officers include those employees who the directors have deemed to have disclosure obligations under section 19T of the Securities Market Act 

1988 and is consistent with that used for the Compensation 

Christopher Weir Mark 
Broadley 

Director Director 
24 June 2019 24 June 2019 
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DIRECTORY 

Company Number 
HN/345055 

Date of Incorporation 
16 July 1987 

DIRECTORS 

• Eric Series (Chairman) 
• Mark Broadley 
• Ulrich Gottschling 
• Wayne Mapp 
• Christopher Weir 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                    
REGISTERED OFFICE 

5 Unity Drive South 
Albany, Auckland 0632 
New Zealand 
Phone (+64 9) 414 5542  
Email:     info@futuremobilitysolutions.net 
Website:  www.futuremobilitysolutions.net 

AUDITORS 

Grant Thornton New Zealand Audit Partnership, Auckland, New Zealand 

LAWYERS 

Buddle Findlay, Auckland, New Zealand 

BANKERS 

Bank of New Zealand, Auckland, New Zealand 
ASB Bank Limited, Auckland, New Zealand 
ANZ Banking Group (New Zealand) Limited, Auckland, New Zealand 

SHARE REGISTRY 

Computershare Investor Services Limited 
Private Bag 92119 
Auckland 1142 
New Zealand 
Phone: (+64 9) 488 8777  

Fax (+64 9) 488 8787 
Email: enquiry@computershare.co.nz

mailto:enquiry@computershare.co.nz


(+64 9) 414 5542 

info@futuremobilitysolutions.net 

Website: futuremobilitysolutions.net
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